***Supreme Court Case No. 82314***

---

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed  
Sep 14 2021 11:48 a.m.  
Elizabeth A. Brown  
Clerk of Supreme Court

---

IN THE MATTER OF: THE  
DUCKWORTH FAMILY TRUST,  
Dated March 12, 2015.

---

KYLA DUCKWORTH  
*Appellants*

v.

CARY DUCKWORTH, TRUSTEE OF THE DUCKWORTH  
FAMILY TRUST  
*Respondent*

---

**APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

---

Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County  
The Honorable Kathleen E. Delaney, Dept. XXVI  
Probate Case No. P-20-103183-T

---

JERIMY L. KIRSCHNER, ESQ.  
Nevada Bar No. 12012  
JERIMY KIRSCHNER & ASSOCIATES, PLLC.  
5550 Painted Mirage Road, Suite 320  
Las Vegas, Nevada 89149

## **II. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

This appeal arises from December 9, 2022 order of District Court in a probate matter (the “Probate Order”). The Probate Order involved and disposed of a matter in which the amount controversy equals or exceeds, exclusive of costs, \$10,000, making the Probate Order an independently appealable interlocutory order. *See*, NRS 155.190(1)(n); NRAP 3A(b)(1). In addition, the Probate Order took jurisdiction over the Trust and appointed a trustee, making it separately appealable. *See*, NRS 155.190(1)(h); NRAP3A(b)(1).

Appeals from orders of the kind under NRS 155.190(1) are required be made within 30 days of entry of the order. *See*, NRS 155.190. The Probate Order was entered on December 9, 2020. Appeal was taken from the order on December 31, 2020. As a result, appeal is timely.

## **III. ROUTING STATEMENT**

The matter is presumptive retained by the Appellate Court because it involves trust and estate matters in which the corpus has a value of less than \$5,430,000. *See*, NRAP 17 (b).

#### **IV.STATEMENT OF ISSUES**

1. Was the Probate Order an interlocutory order subject to appeal under NRS 155.190?
2. Was the District Court’s interpretation of a foreign legal document, which was never presented to the court, supported by substantial evidence?
3. Was the interpretation of the Caveat, a foreign legal document, a question of law?
4. Did the District Court error in interpreting the legal effect of a “caveat” filed in a foreign jurisdiction without reference to that jurisdiction’s laws?

#### **V.STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The underlying case involves disputes arising from the Duckworth Family Trust, dated March 12, 2015 (“Trust”)<sup>1</sup> and its first amendment (“First Amendment”)<sup>2</sup> and second amendment (“Second Amendment”)<sup>3</sup> (collectively “Amendments”) executed in 2019. At the time of the amendments the surviving grantor George Duckworth (“George”) had been diagnosed with

---

<sup>1</sup> App. 0013-0039

<sup>2</sup> App. 0059-0064

<sup>3</sup> App. 0069-0070

dementia/Alzheimer's and the Amendments were executed just months before George died of End Stage Senile Degeneration of the Brain.<sup>4</sup>

The Amendments changed successor trustees,<sup>5</sup> made contemporaneous distributions of substantial assets to George's son Cary Duckworth ("Cary")<sup>6</sup>, and gave Cary new powers to disinherit his sister, Appellant Kyla Duckworth ("Kyla")<sup>7</sup>.

The current appeal pertains to a factual finding of the Probate Commissioner ("Commissioner") which was upheld by the District Court. The Commissioner's Factual Finding was that Kyla's filing of a "caveat" in England was the equivalent of a claim upon Trust assets ("Finding #4"),<sup>8</sup> which allowed invocation of the expanded no-contest provisions added in the Amendments.<sup>9</sup> The District Court upheld the ruling despite neither the Commissioner nor District Court having been presented the caveat that was filed in England ("Caveat"). Moreover, the finding was labeled as a factual finding despite it being a question of law, and a finding that was made without reference to English law, which does not interpret a caveat as being a claim upon assets.

---

<sup>4</sup> App. 00210

<sup>5</sup> App. 60, Sec. 9.01

<sup>6</sup> App. 61, THIRD directive

<sup>7</sup> App. 0059, ¶1.

<sup>8</sup> App. 0472, Finding #4

<sup>9</sup> App. 0059, ¶1.

The underlying matter is currently set for trial on a variety of issues, including whether the Amendments to the Trust are invalid due to incapacity and undue influence, and also as to whether Kyla had violated other terms of the Trust's no-contest clauses.

## **VI. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

### **A. Background**

On March 12, 2015, Trustors George Duckworth, age ninety, ("George") and Maureen Duckworth ("Maureen"), age seventy-eight, (Collectively, "Trustors") executed their estate planning which consisted for the Duckworth Family Trust ("Trust")<sup>10</sup> as well as wills and powers of attorney. The Trust and the Trustors' estate planning generally named their three joint children, Cary Duckworth ("Cary"), Tara Kassity ("Tara") and Kyla Duckworth ("Kyla") as joint successor fiduciaries.<sup>11</sup> The Trust generally divided the Trustors community property equally, but specifically carved out Maureen's separate property as not being a part of the trust or otherwise subject to division therein.<sup>12</sup> Although a

---

<sup>10</sup> App. 0013-0039

<sup>11</sup> App. 0030, App. 0041. (At the time of the appeal, Kyla only had access to Maureen's estate planning, but later received George's 2015 will and power of attorney which mirrored Maureen's fiduciary selection)

<sup>12</sup> App. 0016, Section 1.06



separate property trust for Maureen was discussed with the attorney drafting their 2015 estate planning, the separate property trust was not created.<sup>13</sup>

From 2016 through the time of his death, trustor George was showing extreme cognitive decline.<sup>14</sup> By 2018, George had been diagnosed by several doctors with dementia/Alzheimer's and was taking Memantine to combat memory issues.<sup>15</sup>

From December 2013 through January 2018, Kyla had lived with the Trustors and generally managed the various caregivers that treated the Trustors in the home, as well as ensuring their proper care.<sup>16</sup> During this time, Maureen had promised Kyla that she would get certain portions of Maureen's separate property located in England, including money in a Barclays bank account ("Barclays Account") as well as a piece of real property. Maureen began the process of adding Kyla to the Barclays Account within weeks of executing the Trust in 2015.

On January 31, 2018, Maureen entered a skilled nursing facility and Kyla stayed in the facility with her.<sup>17</sup> Within five days of Maureen's admittance, Cary arranged for George to execute a new will in Cary's home naming Cary and Tara

---

<sup>13</sup> App. 0351 (In an email from Carrie Hurtick, Esq. "We will still have to do a separate Trust for your mother's [Maureen] separate property")

<sup>14</sup> App. 0212, 0214

<sup>15</sup> App. 0218

<sup>16</sup> App. 002 ¶4

<sup>17</sup> App. 003, ¶5-6

as his personal representative.<sup>18</sup> Maureen died on June 16, 2018.<sup>19</sup> Within forty-eight hours of Maureen’s death, Cary ordered the guards at the gated community George lived in to block Kyla from George’s residence.<sup>20</sup> Shortly thereafter, Cary moved his own family in.

On or about July 18, 2018, Kyla caused a caveat to be filed for the probate of Maureen in England (“Caveat”). In an October 12, 2018 correspondence between Kyla and Cary’s attorney in the fall of 2019, it disclosed Kyla’s concerns that her: “father is aged 94, and due to health issues, he has not handled his own affairs for some time. *There appears to be a serious question as to whether the Deceased’s husband has capacity to administer the affairs of the Deceased’s estate.*”<sup>21</sup> Although the letter announced an intention to make a claim upon Maureen’s English assets,<sup>22</sup> no claim upon those assets was ever made.

On January 23, 2019, less than ten months before George would die of “End Stage Senile Degeneration of the Brain,”<sup>23</sup> Cary arranged for George to amend his will and the Trust. The January 23, 2019, estate planning changes consisted of (1) a codicil to his Will (“Codicil”);<sup>24</sup> and (2) the First Amendment to the Duckworth

---

<sup>18</sup> App. 0050-0057

<sup>19</sup> App. 003 ¶8.

<sup>20</sup> App. 0235; *See also*, App. 0183

<sup>21</sup> App. 0430, ¶4

<sup>22</sup> App. 0431 ¶3

<sup>23</sup> App. 0210

<sup>24</sup> App. 0066

Family Trust (“First Amendment”).<sup>25</sup> At the time Cary arranged for these to be executed, Cary was an express fiduciary operating under the 2018 durable powers of attorney.

The Codicil was simple in that it removed Tara as co-executor of George’s estate, leaving Cary with sole control.<sup>26</sup> The First Amendment, however, was a significant departure from George’s prior estate planning, and immediately transferred the bulk of his wealth to Cary.<sup>27</sup> The First Amendment also states that any attempt by Kyla lay claim to Maureen separate property in England would be deemed a “contest” of the Trust and would result in invocation of the Trust’s no-contest clause, specifically:

For purposes of the Incontestability provisions of Section 7.02 above, any action commenced in the United Kingdom by a beneficiary of this Trust with respect to property owned there by the deceased Trustor, *MAUREEN D. DUCKWORTH*, that seeks to have such property (or the proceeds of sale of such property) to be distributed in any manner other than provided for by the intestacy laws of the United Kingdom shall be considered a contest of the provisions of this Trust. Any such action will result in the proponent of such action to no longer be considered a beneficiary of this Trust and shall receive no distribution from this Trust including any distribution of specific assets provided for herein.<sup>28</sup>

---

<sup>25</sup> App. 0059-0064

<sup>26</sup> App. 0068

<sup>27</sup> App. 0061-0062 THIRD Directive (The First Amendment provided that George’s primary residence located at 1829 Corta Bella Drive, Las Vegas, Nevada 89134 (“Corta Bella Property”) which was owned free and clear and was valued at hundreds of thousands of dollars was to be *immediately* transferred to Cary at a twenty percent (20%) discount of its actual value. The amendment also transferred all of the household goods and furnishings to Cary for no consideration.)

<sup>28</sup> App. 0059, ¶1

The First Amendment also named Cary the sole successor trustee,<sup>29</sup> a position he obtained that same day after George resigned as trustee.

On March 20, 2019, Cary again brought George to an attorney to execute another amendment to the Trust, the Second Amendment.<sup>30</sup> Under the Second Amendment, it sought to treat *inter vivos* transfers that Maureen made from her separate property years before as an “advancement” to Kyla.<sup>31</sup>

On November 16, 2019, George Duckworth died of End Stage Senile Degeneration of the Brain.<sup>32</sup>

On January 17, 2020, Kyla made a demand upon Cary for an accounting pursuant to NRS 165.141 and expressly demanded that the accounting comport with NRS 165.135.<sup>33</sup> On March 13, 2019, Cary produced an accounting which was materially deficient of NRS 161.135 requirements (“Accounting”).<sup>34</sup> Within the Accounting it identified advances to Cary for \$178,400.00, and a “loan” to Cary for \$43,646.03.<sup>35</sup> Afterwards, Kyla sent a request to Cary asking for information on Trust documents, disclosures of Personal Property values, and explanations for various suspicious charges in the Accounting.<sup>36</sup> Cary was

---

<sup>29</sup> App. 0060

<sup>30</sup> App. 0069-0070

<sup>31</sup> *Id.*

<sup>32</sup> App. 00210

<sup>33</sup> App. 0073

<sup>34</sup> App. 0079-0107

<sup>35</sup> App. 0005, ¶29.

<sup>36</sup> App. 0113-0114

unresponsive to the request for additional information and as a result Kyla filed suit seeking to compel a proper accounting.

B. 2020 Probate Action

On June 10, 2020, Petitioner initiated this matter to compel a proper accounting of the Trust (“Action”).<sup>37</sup> In response, Cary moved to invoke the “no-contest” clause against Kyla, in part, on the basis that:

Kyla’s legal actions violates the no-contest provisions in at least four different and independent ways....Kyla is claiming 75 % of George’s interest in the English Probate that would go to George’s Nevada Estate and then transfer to the Trust<sup>38</sup>

This was based on Kyla’s filing of the Caveat in Maureen’s English Probate. In making his request neither Cary nor Kyla had produced the Caveat filed in England, and Kyla argued that Cary had not presented the English law on the effect of a Caveat.

On October 6, 2020, the Probate Commissioner (“Commissioner”)’s Report and Recommendation (“RAR”) was entered ordering Cary to provide additional details in his Accounting.<sup>39</sup> The same order also determined there was a contest of the First Amendment and Second Amendment based on incapacity

---

<sup>37</sup> App. 0001-0011

<sup>38</sup> App. 0402

<sup>39</sup> App. 0471-0474

and undue influence and set the matter for trial,<sup>40</sup> and also set for trial the question of whether Kyla had violated the no-contest clause of the First and Second Amendments.<sup>41</sup> Despite setting the matters for trial, the RAR found as a fact “[Appellant] hired an English attorney who filed a “Caveat” in the English proceeding<sup>42</sup> *and alleged and claimed that [Appellant] was entitled to the English assets.*”<sup>43</sup>

Kyla filed an objection to the RAR on the basis that the Commissioner had not seen the underlying Caveat, had not been briefed on its effect under English law, and that the factual finding was premature because the matter had been set for trial.<sup>44</sup> The District Court confirmed the Commissioners recommendations on the basis that the Commissioner’s findings and conclusions were not clearly erroneous.<sup>45</sup>

## **VII.SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS**

---

<sup>40</sup> App. 0473 ¶3

<sup>41</sup> App. 0472-0473

<sup>42</sup> The English proceeding refers to the probate for Maureen Duckworth’s estate in England.

<sup>43</sup> App. 0472, ¶4.

<sup>44</sup> App. 0476-477

<sup>45</sup> App. 0547-0548

The District Court's order is one subject to immediate interlocutory appeal. The factual finding in the Appealed Order conclusively resolves the determination as to whether Kyla violated the no-contest clause in the Amendments, even though it sets the same matter for a later trial. The effect would have Kyla lose her beneficial interest under the Trust which exceeds more than \$10,000 on its face.

The District Court did not review the Caveat, a legal document filed in Maureen's English probate, and as such did not have substantial evidence to support its finding. In addition, the interpretation of the Caveat, a foreign legal document, was a question of law and required the District Court to have made its determination with reference to English law. Moreover, English law does not equate a Caveat with a claim upon assets. As a result, the District Court erred, and the result should be reversed and remanded for a determination of the Caveat's effect at the trial scheduled in the matter.

## **VIII. ARGUMENT**

### **A. The Probate Order Was Subject to Interlocutory Appeal**

"This court reviews questions of statutory interpretation de novo." *Matter of Beatrice B. Davis Fam. Heritage Tr.*, 133 Nev. 190, 193, 394 P.3d 1203, 1206 (2017). Certain probate court orders are independent appealable interlocutory orders. *See*, NRS 155.190. Specifically, NRS 155.190(1)(n)

provides for an appeal from “any decision wherein the amount in controversy equals or exceeds, exclusive of costs, \$10,000.” In addition, an appeal may be taken within 30 days of entry of an order determining heirship or the persons to whom distribution must be made or trust property must pass or distributing property. *See*, NRS 155.190(1)(k), NRS 155.190(1)(l); *Matter of Estate of Miller*, 111 Nev. 1, 6, 888 P.2d 433, 436 (1995).

“[U]nless appeal is taken within 30 days, an order of the kinds mentioned in NRS 155.190 is not thereafter subject to attack.” *Estate of Miller*, 888 P.2d 436 (citing, *Luria v. Zucker*, 87 Nev. 471, 488 P.2d 1159 (1971)).

Herein, the confirmed factual findings in the RAR became conclusive absent appeal, and the factual findings therein unmistakably triggers the amended “no-contest” clause found in the First Amendment. The First Amendment provided that:

For purposes of the Incontestability provisions of Section 7.02 above, *any action commenced in the United Kingdom by a beneficiary of this Trust with respect to property owned there by the deceased Trustor, MAUREEN D. DUCKWORTH, that seeks to have such property (or the proceeds of sale of such property) to be distributed in any manner other than provided for by the intestacy laws of the United Kingdom shall be considered a contest of the provisions of this Trust.* Any such action will result in the proponent of such action to no longer be considered a beneficiary of this Trust and shall receive no distribution from this Trust including any distribution of specific assets provided for herein.<sup>46</sup>

---

<sup>46</sup> Appx. 0059, Section 7.05 Addition (emphasis added).



The RAR in Finding of Fact #4 found:

4. Kyla hired an English attorney who filed a “Caveat” in the English proceeding and alleged and claimed that Kyla was to [sic] entitled to the English assets.<sup>47</sup>

(“Finding #4).

Since the Probate Order and its findings become conclusive and not subject to attack after thirty days, the Finding #4 adjudicates the no-contest clause, making its final announcement mere window dressing.

Next, Kyla’s interest in the Trust exceeds ten thousand dollars (\$10,000), even if using the reduced interest under the First Amendment.<sup>48</sup> The loss of this interest exceeds the \$10,000 threshold in NRS 155.190(1)(n), and as such the Probate Order is one subject to interlocutory appeal.

B. The District Court Errored in Confirming the Finding that was not based on substantial evidence, and which violated the best evidence rule.

This Court reviews any “purely legal question in a probate matter de novo and give deference to the district court's findings of fact.” *Waldman v. Maini*, 124 Nev. 1121, 1129–30, 195 P.3d 850, 856 (2008). In a matter concerning probate, this Court defers to a district court's findings of fact and will only disturb them if they are not supported by substantial evidence. *Id.* at 856 . “Substantial evidence

---

<sup>47</sup> Appx. 473, Finding of Fact #4

<sup>48</sup> App. 0062, Fourth Directive (Kyla was to receive 50% of a home valued at \$360,000)

is evidence that a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.” *Winchell v. Schiff*, 124 Nev. 938, 944, 193 P.3d 946, 950 (2008)

It is a foundational concept that “[t]o prove the content of a writing, recording or photograph, the original writing, recording or photograph is required, except as otherwise provided in this title.” *See*, NRS 52.235. This would be especially true in a scenario where a court is being requested to interpret the effect of a legal filing in a foreign jurisdiction.

Herein, the Caveat filed in the English probate of Maureen was not presented to the Commissioner or District Court by any party because it was not then available.<sup>49</sup> At an absolute minimum, the Commissioner and District Court must have reviewed the actual “Caveat” to determine whether it had made a claim upon assets, which it did not. The only reference to a claim upon assets was a letter in which Kyla’s English counsel suggested that Kyla “*intends* to lay claim to the Deceased's estate in England,”<sup>50</sup> however the letter was sent on October 12, 2018, three months before the First Amendment was executed (“October 12, 2018 Letter”).<sup>51</sup> Moreover, an announcement of future intention does not show the action actually occurring. Finding #4 falls afoul of

---

<sup>49</sup> App. 0001-0470; 0475-0546. (The appendix has redundancies from the original filings but reflects the filings of the parties. A review of the record shows no caveat was produced by either side.)

<sup>50</sup> App. 488, ¶3 (emphasis added)

<sup>51</sup> App. 488 (October 12, 2018); App. 0064 (January 23, 2019)

foundational evidentiary concept, *i.e.* present the document to prove the contents of the document and was made over Kyla's objection to have the actual Caveat be presented to the court.<sup>52</sup> In all of the briefings, there was no Caveat presented to the Court and as such Finding #4 cannot be based on substantial evidence.

Moreover, Finding #4 runs afoul of the best evidence rule in NRS 52.235. The District Court erred by confirming a finding about a document that was never presented and confirmed over the objection of Kyla that the actual document had to be presented. Furthermore, the "Finding of Fact" listed in the RAR was actually a legal conclusion not a factual finding, as discussed below.

C. The District Court Errored in Confirming a Legal Conclusion About a Foreign Legal Document the Commissioner had Never Seen, Without Considering How that Document Was Treated Under that Country's Laws

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