#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

IN THE MATTER OF THE DUCKWORTH FAMILY TRUST, DATED MARCH 12, 2015.

KYLA DUCKWORTH,

Appellant,

v.

CARY DUCKWORTH, TRUSTEE OF THE DUCKWORTH FAMILY TRUST, Respondent.

Electronically Filed
Nov 15 2021 04:49 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Supreme Court Clerk2of Supreme Court
District Court Case No.
P-20-103183-T

Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County Nevada

The Honorable Gloria Sturman, Department XXVI, District Court Judge

District Court Case No. P-20-103183-T

#### **RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF**

R. GARDNER JOLLEY
Nevada Bar No. 266

JOLLEY URGA WOODBURY & HOLTHUS
50 S. Stephanie Street, Suite 202

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

#### IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

On appeal, Kyla challenges the District Court's orders and findings entered on December 9, 2020. The arguments are addressed below.

A. The Probate Order as a Final Judgment: Kyla argues the District Court's order affirming the Probate Commissioner's Report and Recommendation and denying her objection is a final order subject to appeal. The Order by the Probate Court Judge does not dispose of any of the issues of this case and the Court was very clear that it would only matter for future consideration at the time of trial. The finding that Kyla hired an English attorney who filed a Caveat does not resolve whether the Amendments are valid, whether the Court will determine that the no contest clause was violated or whether the Court will compel Kyla to account for her

16

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> R.APP000465.

handling of the Duckworths' finances and return the assets she misappropriated.

#### B. Determination of the Filing of a Caveat.

The District Court did not err by finding that Kyla had filed a Caveat against the English Estate. Evidence was presented to the District Court that Kyla's counsel threatened to file a Caveat, that Kyla later followed through on that threat and filed a Caveat on August 14, 2019, and that she later extended the Caveat until January 17, 2020. Cary presented evidence that George's counsel had made Kyla aware of the existence of the Caveat and made a demand that it be removed immediately. At no time did Kyla contest the existence of the Caveat. To the contrary, she admitted that she caused the Caveat to be placed in the English probate proceedings. The District Court property concluded that Kyla failed to dispute any of the facts presented by Cary regarding the Caveat, or to deny its existence.

### C. Determination of the Claims Against the Estate.

The District Court properly concluded that Kyla's English attorney alleged and claimed that Kyla was entitled to the English assets. In light of the evidence presented by Cary at the time of hearing, the District Court concluded that not only had Kyla filed the Caveat, but that her own counsel had argued that she was entitled to the entirety of the English Estate. Kyla argued at the time of hearing, and later objected to the finding upon review, but failed to provide any evidence whatsoever to support her position that she had not made a claim against the English assets. As

discussed below, the court made specific findings of fact and conclusion of law which were supported by substantial evidence.

### D. Interpretation of the Caveat.

The District Court properly determined that Kyla had filed a Caveat and made claims against the English Estate, however, the District Court <a href="never">never</a> made any attempts to interpret those claims. In her Opening Brief, Kyla incorrectly characterizes the Probate Commissioner's findings as an "interpretation of the Caveat" and "interpreting the legal effect of a 'caveat". This is, at best, a gross mischaracterization of the Commissioner's findings. The probate court has specifically deferred final adjudication on this issue until after the parties' Evidentiary Hearing. No other comments or findings were made, and certainly none that address the validity of Kyla's actions as a "contest" or an "interpretation" of the Caveat or Kyla's claims against the English Estate.

#### V. ARGUMENT

The Appellant's Opening Brief starts by stating the following:

The underlying case involves disputes arising from the Duckworth Family Trust, dated March 12, 2015 ("Trust") and its first amendment ("First Amendment") and second amendment ("Second Amendment") (collectively "Amendments") executed in 2019. At the time of the amendments the surviving grantor George Duckworth ("George") had been diagnosed with dementia/Alzheimer's and the Amendments were executed just

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> AOB p. 6, Statement of Issues #3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> AOB p. 6, Statement of Issues #4.

months before George died of End Stage Senile Degeneration of the Brain.

The Amendments changed successor trustees, made contemporaneous distributions of substantial assets to George's son Cary Duckworth ("Cary"), and gave Cary new powers to disinherit his sister, Appellant Kyla Duckworth ("Kyla"). <sup>37</sup>

Kyla's opening statements and her position on appeal is contrary to what was presented in the first Petition filed by Kyla on June 10, 2020. The title of the Petition was the following:

PETITION FOR CONSTRUCTION OF TRUST TERM; PETITION TO COMPEL PROPER ACCOUNTING AND TO COMPEL TURNOVER OF TRUST DOCUMENTS  $^{38}$ 

The Introduction to that same Petition on page 2 states the following:

"Petitioner seeks an initial declaration from the Court whether proceedings with a petition regarding objection to an accounting would allow a trustee for Duckworth Family Trust dated March 12, 2015 ("Trust") to enforce the forfeiture provisions with the Trust. Then if, and only if, proceeding with an objection would not permit invocation of the forfeiture provisions, then Petitioner asks that the Court compel the trustee to provide a proper NRS 165.135 accounting to hold the trustee personally liable for costs incurred as well as attorney's fees and to compel the

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> AOB p. 6-7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> R.APP000028-141.

trustee to turn over all documents related to the succession of the trustees for the Trust."<sup>39</sup>

The June 10, 2020, Petition filed by Kyla is the first time that any concern about the no contest clause in the Trust and in the Amendments were raised by Kyla. The June Petition did not request Cary be removed as the Trustee. In addition, there was no objection by Kyla that Cary be appointed as Executor on January 31, 2020, nor did Kyla raise any issue in the probate proceedings that George was not competent to execute the Will that was presented to the Court and admitted to probate. Although served with the Petition, Kyla was not represented at the hearing and, without any objection, Cary was appointed as Executor and the Will was admitted to Probate.

Kyla's two attorneys, her English and local counsel, received the August 14, 2019, letter from Mr. Burns and the Amendments, yet no one contacted Cary or his attorney or indicated that the Caveat would be removed.<sup>41</sup> All of these documents were in the Trustee's Reply filed on September 1, 2020, to Kyla's Supplement filed on August 21, 2020, and were properly before the Probate Commissioner.<sup>42</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> RAPP000029.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> R.APP000028-000036.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> R.APP000293-000294.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> The documents in question were R.APP000295-383.

Kyla's Supplement filed August 21, 2020, on page 23 line 10, quoted the section of the First Amendment which stated that if anyone claimed the property in the English Estate that belonged to Maureen, other than under the intestacy laws, would be considered a contest of the Trust.<sup>43</sup> On page 23, line 16 of her Supplement to the initial petition, Kyla admits that a Caveat was filed.<sup>44</sup> Yet, after receiving the August 14, 2019, letter from Mr. Burns demanding a 7-day response, neither the English attorney nor Kyla's local counsel notified Cary's counsel that they did not intend to renew the "Caveat" or dispute the "warning off" which would deem the Caveat a contest.

Remarkably, in her Opening Brief to this appeal, Kyla alleges that the issue in the underlying case focuses on the Amendments and Cary's conduct as Trustee. OAB p.6. Such argument is belied by the comment in the same Opening Brief on page 7 which states that the District Court erred in referring to the Caveat. Kyla's Brief then goes into detail on other issues not related to the appeal, conveniently avoiding the issue before this Court: whether the referral to the Caveat in Finding of Fact No. 4 in the Report and Recommendation of October 6, 2020, affirmed by the District Court's order of December 9, 2020, should not be allowed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> R.APP000218.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> Id.

On page 3 of Kyla's Objection to the October 6, 2020, Report and Recommendation, she states:

This finding is clearly erroneous and is actually disguised as a conclusion of law about a legal document which the Court has never seen. "To prove the content of a writing, recording or photograph, the original writing, recording or photograph is required, except as otherwise provided in this title." See, NRS 52.235. No party produced the "Caveat," an English legal document; not an original nor a copy. The only reference in the record is a discussion of a "Caveat" having been filed, but not the document itself. The court cannot interpret or render findings about there being a claim on the English assets in the Caveat because it has never been presented with the document. Moreover, the "factual finding" is an interpretation of a legal document, which is a legal conclusion, not a factual finding.<sup>45</sup>

Kyla's Objection fails to address the Probate Commissioner's actual finding of fact. That finding did not address or evaluate the legal effect of the Caveat on the English proceeding but simply stated an undisputed fact admitted by Kyla at the time, supported by evidence before the Probate Commissioner, namely that Kyla's English attorney – hired by her – filed a Caveat in the English proceeding and claimed that Kyla was entitled to the English assets.<sup>46</sup>

### A. The Probate Order is Not a Final Judgment Subject to Appeal.

Kyla seeks to appeal Finding of Fact No. 4 in the Order denying the objection

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> R.APP000390.

<sup>46</sup> It was also known to the Probate Commissioner that Kyla had acted to claim Maureen's Barclays assets as her own.

to the Probate Commissioner's Report and Recommendations. However, the Appellant does not cite a legal basis for this appeal. Notwithstanding that fact, there is no legal basis to vest this Court with jurisdiction over the interlocutory order at issue because this Court "determines the finality of an order or judgment by looking to what the order or judgment actually does, not what it is called." *Valley Bank of Nev. v. Ginsburg*, 110 Nev. 440, 445, 874 P.2d 729, 733 (1994). Oftentimes, this Court has looked past "labels in interpreting NRAP 3A(b)(1), and has instead taken a functional view of finality, which seeks to further the rule's main objective: promoting judicial economy by avoiding the specter of piecemeal appellate review." *Id.* at 444, 874 P.2d at 733.

The issues at the heart of this case are whether the First and Second Amendments to the Trust were valid and whether Kyla's actions give rise to the No-Contest clauses within the Trust and Amendments. Here, the Order by the Probate Court Judge denying the objection to the Commissioner's Finding of Fact No. 4 does not dispose of any of the issues of this case and still leaves plenty for future consideration by the court.

The appealed finding in the ordered and adopted Report and Recommendations simply states the undisputed facts that, "Kyla hired an English attorney who filed a "Caveat" in the English proceeding and alleged and claimed that Kyla was entitled to the English assets."

The finding that Kyla hired an English attorney who filed a caveat does not resolve whether the Amendments are valid, whether the Court will determine that the No-Contest clause was violated, or whether Kyla must account for her actions as caregiver. The Court still has to consider whether the Amendments were valid and whether Kyla's actions trigger the No-Contest clauses.

It is well established that a probate commissioner's ruling will be upheld unless a probate judge determines that his findings were clearly erroneous based on substantial evidence. Here, Appellant is basing her appeal on a factual finding that the Probate Judge already ruled was not a clearly erroneous finding. Since the issues of this case have not been resolved and the standard for reversal of the finding was not met, this Court should deny this appeal.

"The right to appeal is statutory, and where no statute or rule authorizes an appeal, no right to appeal exists." *August H. v. State*, 105 Nev. 441, 443, 777 P.2d 901, 902 (1989). NRAP 3A(b)(1) mandates that "[a]n appeal may be taken... [f]rom a final judgment in an action or proceeding commenced in the court in which the judgment is rendered." A final judgment is "one that disposes of all the issues presented in the case, and leaves nothing for the future consideration of the court." *Lee v. GNLV Corp.*, 116 Nev. 424, 426, 996 P.2d 416, 417 (2000).

Interlocutory orders are, by definition, not final, appealable orders because they do not resolve all issues before the court. However, NRAP 3A(b) sets forth the

appealable probate orders. If the interlocutory probate order does not fall under NRAP 3A(b), the only recourse is by virtue of NRS 155.190, under which an appeal must be made within thirty days after the date of entry of the order appealed from. *Matter of Estate of Riddle*, 99 Nev. 632, 688 P.2d 290 (1983).

However, NRS 155.190 only allows an appeal from a probate order that is listed within the statute. *Matter of Paul D. Burgauer Revocable Living Tr.*, 465 P.3d 222 (Nev. App. 2020) (where the Court held it did not have jurisdiction to hear the appeal because an order temporarily removing the Appellant as trustee is not within the list of allowable appeals under NRS 155.190). Hence, this Court has repeatedly held that interlocutory orders are not appealable if they do not resolve the underlying issues of the case and do not fall under the exceptions of NRAP 3A(b) or NRS 155.190, and, thus, this Court should deny this appeal. See Sicor, Inc. v. Sacks, 127 Nev.896, 266 P.3d 618 (2011).

# B. The District Court Properly Concluded that Kyla Had Filed a Caveat in the English Estate.

Caveats are used in the United States and more prolifically throughout Europe in probate matters. They serve to place more than mere a pause on the Estate, but instead could cause the removal of the Trustee or challenge a no contest clause. *Merriam-Webster's Collegiate Dictionary, Tenth Edition, 2002* defines a caveat as "a legal warning to a judicial officer to suspend a proceeding until the opposition has a hearing." Id. *Wests Legal Thesaurus Dictionary, 1986* further defines a caveat

as, "a formal notice or warning. "Let him beware." (He filed a caveat to be sure that he would be heard on the issue of probating the will.)" Id. By definition, a caveat is an "opposition" or "warning". Despite Kyla's arguments, a caveat is not solely a foreign document, but one used within the United States and recognized as a challenge in a probate proceeding.

Although not referred to in Nevada law, other states have recognized the concept of caveats. In *Estate of Peterson* 255 GA APP 303, 565 S.E. 2d 524 (2002), the decedent heirs filed a caveat objecting to the appointment of the lawyer as Executor who drafted the Will. The attorney was disqualified, and the matter was appealed to the Georgia Appellate Court. Id. In North Carolina *In re Will of Shepherd*, 235 N.C. Appellate. 298 (2014), a caveat was filed challenging the will and on appeal the Court reversed the Summary Judgment. While the substance of these two cases are irrelevant to the instant analysis, the two courts nevertheless recognized the existence of a caveat as a viable, cognizable objection in a probate proceeding. In the case of *Matter of Estate of Phillips*, 251 N.C.App.99, 795 S.E.2d 273 (2016), a caveat is the term used for an objector to a probate proceeding thereby creating an in rem proceeding.

Although Kyla first claimed there was no caveat on the English Estate, she attached the letter from the Trustee's previous attorney, dated August 4, 2019, demanding the removal of the Caveat as Exhibit 32 to her Supplemental Brief filed

on August 21, 2020.<sup>47</sup> In her Supplemental Brief, on page 2, Kyla admitted that a caveat had been placed on the English Estate.<sup>48</sup> In her deposition Kyla testified that she had caused a caveat to be placed and renewed on the English proceedings.<sup>49</sup> It is also interesting to note that on page 10, Kyla's Opening Brief states, on or about July 18, 2018, Kyla caused a Caveat to be filed for the Probate of Maureen in England. As a result, the statement in the Report and Recommendation that a Caveat had been placed on the Estate is factually correct.

# C. The District Court Properly Concluded that Kyla had Alleged and Claimed That Kyla Was Entitled to the English Assets.

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